
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

April 4th, 2017  9:00 am 
 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jan J. Moore 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilman Travis Chance 
 

3. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 

4. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 03-21-2017 Council Minutes 
 

B) Consideration of a motion for the surplus and disposal of vehicles and equipment in 
the Public Works & Engineering Department. 

 

C) Consideration of a Motion to Accept the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 
between Georgia Southern University, the City of Statesboro, and the Bulloch County 
Sheriff’s Department pursuant to the Georgia Mutual Aid Act. 

5. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve Alcohol License Application: 
A)  Southern Billiards & Burgers Inc. DBA Cowboys Pub & Grub 
      James H Rushing Jr. 
      200 Lanier Drive Suite 2 
      Statesboro Ga 30458 
 

6. Consideration of a Motion to approve an application for Sec.6-17(d) exemptions to open 
container prohibition. 
A) Eagle Creek Brewing Company 

 
7. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2017-15: A Resolution to appoint Mr. 

Tom Peterson as the Administrative Judge to preside over the alcohol license violation 
hearings. 
 

8. Consideration of a Motion to Approve Award of Contract to Ellis Wood Contracting for 
the City Street Resurfacing FY 2017 Project.  Ellis Wood Contracting's bid was in the 
amount of $569,800.00, based on unit price extensions, however, the Engineering 
Division requests approval to spend up to the budgeted amount of $644,078.00 in order to 
resurface additional street mileage.   
 

9. Other Business from City Council 
 

10. City Managers Comments 
 



 
 

11. Public Comments (General) 
A) Erica Pierno, Event Coordinator with GSU Film Club 
B) Carrie Howard request to address Council 
 

12. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
Council Minutes 
March 21, 2017 

 
A regular meeting of the Statesboro City Council was held on March 21, 2017 at 5:30p.m. in the 
Council Chambers at City Hall. Present were Mayor Jan J. Moore, Council Members: Phil 
Boyum, Sam Lee Jones, Jeff Yawn and John Riggs.  Also present were City Manager Randy 
Wetmore, Deputy City Manager Robert Cheshire, City Clerk Sue Starling and City Attorney 
Cain Smith. Councilman Travis chance was absent.      
The meeting was called to Order by Mayor Jan J. Moore. 
 
The Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance was given by DSDA Director Allen Muldrew. 
 
Recognitions/Public Presentations  

A) Presentation of Retirement for Dallas McPhee, Fire Inspector, Fire 
Department, after 22 years of service 

Dallas Mc Phee was not present therefore; this item was tabled until a later date. 
 
Public Comments (Agenda Item): None 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
   a) 03-07-2017 Council Minutes 

 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Jones to approve the consent 
agenda in it’s entirely. Councilman Boyum, Jones and Yawn voted in favor of the motion. The 
motion carried by a 3-0 vote. 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve APPLICATION # V 17-02-02: 
Nick Stein requests a variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 4 of the Statesboro 
Zoning Ordinance regarding the maximum aggregate sign area in Sign District 2 for 460 
Northside Drive East (Tax Parcel MS72 000011 000). 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve APPLICATION # V 17-02-03: 
Nick Stein requests a variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 4 of the Statesboro 
Zoning Ordinance regarding the maximum number of building signs allowed per elevation 
in Sign District 2 for 460 Northside Drive East (Tax Parcel MS72 000011 000). 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to open the public hearing 
for Application V17-02-02 and Application V 17-02-03.  Councilman Boyum, Jones and Yawn 
voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 3-0 vote. 
 
Anthony Lynch of Integrity Engineering spoke in favor of the request. 



 
 

 
Councilman John Riggs joined the meeting at 5:35 pm. 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Jones to close the public hearing 
for Application V17-02-02 and Application V 17-02-03.  Councilman Boyum, Jones, Riggs and 
Yawn voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to approve  
APPLICATION # V 17-02-02: Nick Stein requests a variance from Article XV Section 
1509(C) Table 4 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance regarding the maximum aggregate sign 
area in Sign District 2 for 460 Northside Drive East (Tax Parcel MS72 000011 000). Councilman 
Boyum, Jones, Riggs and Yawn voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to approve 
APPLICATION # V 17-02-03: Nick Stein requests a variance from Article XV Section 
1509(C) Table 4 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance regarding the maximum number of 
building signs allowed per elevation in Sign District 2 for 460 Northside Drive East (Tax Parcel 
MS72 000011 000). Councilman Boyum, Jones, Riggs and Yawn voted in favor of the motion. 
The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve APPLICATION # V 17-02-04: 
Nick Stein requests a variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 5 of the Statesboro 
Zoning Ordinance regarding the maximum aggregate sign area in Sign District 3 for 810 
Archway Drive (Tax Parcel MS74 000198 007). 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve APPLICATION # V 17-02-05: 
Nick Stein requests a variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 5 of the Statesboro 
Zoning Ordinance regarding the maximum number of building signs allowed per elevation 
in Sign District 3 for 810 Archway Drive (Tax Parcel MS74 000198 007). 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to open the public hearing 
for Application V17-02-04 and Application V 17-02-05.  Councilman Boyum, Jones, Riggs and 
Yawn voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Anthony Lynch of Integrity Engineering spoke in favor of the request. 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Jones to close the public hearing 
for Application V17-02-04 and Application V 17-02-05.  Councilman Boyum, Jones, Riggs and 
Yawn voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve APPLICATION 
# V 17-02-04: Nick Stein requests a variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 5 of the 
Statesboro Zoning Ordinance regarding the maximum aggregate sign area in Sign District 3 for 
810 Archway Drive (Tax Parcel MS74 000198 007). Councilman Boyum, Jones, Riggs and 
Yawn voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 



 
 

Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve APPLICATION 
# V 17-02-05: Nick Stein requests a variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 5 of the 
Statesboro Zoning Ordinance regarding the maximum number of building signs allowed per 
elevation in Sign District 3 for 810 Archway Drive (Tax Parcel MS74 000198 007). Councilman 
Boyum, Jones, Riggs and Yawn voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve APPLICATION # SE 17-02-01: 
Marilyn Knight requests a special exception to utilize the property located at 404 North 
Avenue as a childcare center with a capacity of fifty-two (52) children in the R8 zoning 
district (Tax Parcel MS40 000051 000). 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to open the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Riggs and Yawn voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by 
a 4-0 vote. 
 
Mary Williams, Vernon and Marilyn Knight spoke in favor of the request. 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to close the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Riggs and Yawn voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by 
a 4-0 vote.   
 
Councilman Jones made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve APPLICATION 
# SE 17-02-01: Marilyn Knight requests a special exception to utilize the property located at 404 
North Avenue as a childcare center with a capacity of fifty-two (52) children in the R8 zoning 
district (Tax Parcel MS40 000051 000). Councilman Boyum, Jones, Riggs and Yawn voted in 
favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Approve Resolution 2017-13 : A Resolution to accept an 
$8,000.00 Plate Carrier and Ballistic Plate Grant from the Statesboro Police Officers 
Foundation, Grant Number SPOF 2017-01, funding 50% of the purchase of Active Shooter 
Plate Carriers and Ballistic Plates. 
 
Nick Propps, President of the Police Officers Foundation, spoke in favor of the request. 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to approve Resolution 
2017-13: A Resolution to accept an $8,000.00 Plate Carrier and Ballistic Plate Grant from the 
Statesboro Police Officers Foundation, Grant Number SPOF 2017-01, funding 50% of the 
purchase of Active Shooter Plate Carriers and Ballistic Plates. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Riggs 
and Yawn voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Approve Resolution 2017-14: A Resolution of the City 
Council of the City of Statesboro declaring Statesboro as a Safe Inclusive and Welcoming 
City for All People. 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to approve Resolution 
2017-14: A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Statesboro declaring Statesboro as a 



 
 

Safe Inclusive and Welcoming City for All People. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Riggs and Yawn 
voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
The Bulloch County Commissioners request a letter of support from the City of Statesboro 
in the application of a $750,000 grant from the Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) program for a project that consists of the construction of a new Senior Citizens 
Center in Statesboro (Bulloch County), Georgia. 
 
 No one was present to represent the Bulloch County Commissioners.  
Jennifer Daily, who attended the County Commissioners meeting that morning stated the Senior 
Citizens Center, was discussed and she heard no opposition to the Center. 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to approve the request for a 
letter of support from the City of Statesboro in the application of a $750,000 grant from the 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program for a project that consists of the 
construction of a new Senior Citizens Center in Statesboro (Bulloch County), Georgia. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Riggs and Yawn voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by 
a 4-0 vote. 
 
Other Business from City Council: None 
 
City Managers Comments: None 
 
Public Comments (General) 
 
Daisy Martin spoke with Council regarding the high collection fees that were charged to citizens 
for the non- payment of utility bills. She especially made reference to those who were not only 
elderly but also those who were disabled. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 
“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 
 
There was no Executive Session held. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to adjourn. Councilman 
Boyum, Jones, Riggs and Yawn voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 6:25 pm. 



 
 

 
Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 
Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Sam Jones, District 2 
Jeff Yawn, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Travis L. Chance, District 5 

 
  
 
 
  
 
 
    
To:   Randy Wetmore, City Manager 
 
From:  Jason Boyles, Director of Public Works and Engineering 
 
Date:  3/27/17 
 
RE:  Asset Surplus and Disposition 
 
Policy Issue:  Purchasing Policy Section 3: Vehicle & Equipment 

Surplus and Disposition 
 
Recommendation:  
Surplus and disposition of the following items in Public Works & Engineering: 
a) 1996 CAT D6 dozer 
b) 2004 Ford F150 
c) 1995 Ford F150 
d) 1996 Ford F250 
e) 1995 E-Z-Go Utility Cart/Vehicle 
f)  2006 Ford F350 chassis cab 
g) 1993 Ford L10 Vac Truck 
h) 1991 International 4900 dump truck 
i)   2000 International/Tymco Street Sweeper 
j)  1995 Vaxcavator trailer 
j)  (3) 5’ x 10’ dump trailers 
k)  300 gallon plastic chemical tank and Honda pump 
 
Background:  
The vehicles and equipment recommended for surplus and disposition have 
exceeded their useful service life and have been replaced with new units.  All 
departments have been contacted to solicit need or interest regarding any of 
the items on this list in other departments; however, no one has expressed any 
interest.  Therefore I respectfully request surplus and disposition of these items. 
 
Budget Impact:  Increase in revenues for sale of assets 
 
Council Person and District: N/A 
 
Attachments: None 































 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 
Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Sam Lee Jones 
Jeff B. Yawn 
John C. Riggs 
Travis L. Chance 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Jan J. Moore, Mayor and Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 
 
From: Randy Wetmore, City Manager 
 
 
Date: March 28, 2017 
 
 
RE: Administrative Judge Appointment 
 
 
Policy Issue: Statesboro Code of Ordinances Section 6-19 (c) (1) provides 
procedure regarding appointment of Administrative Judge to preside over 
alcohol license violation hearings. The Judge’s appointment by City Manager is 
subject to approval by Mayor and Council.  
 
Recommendation: . It is recommended that Tom Peterson IV be appointed to 
serve as Administrative Judge. 
 
 
Background: Ordinance was amended March 7, 2017 providing for this 
procedure. 
 
 
Budget Impact: Predicted $5100 annually paid from Legal budget. Impact may 
be greater if Judge’s workload is greater than anticipated. 
 
 
Council Person and District: N/A 
 
 
Attachments: Engagement letter from Tom Peterson IV, Resolution  
   



The Law Firm of Tom A. Peterson IV, LLC 

P.O. Box 2037 
104 SW Main Street 

Vidalia, Georgia 30475 
www.petersonfirm.net 

Tom A. Peterson IV TELEPHONE: (912) 537-6388 
tom@petersonfirm.net FACSIMILE: (912) 537-6391 

March 22, 2017 
VIA EMAIL 

Mayor Jan Moore 
50 East Main Street 
P. O. Box 348 
Statesboro, GA 30458 

RE: 	 Bid for Position of Administrative Judge for Alcohol Ordinance Compliance Court 
Our File No.: 2017.17034 

Dear Mayor Moore, 

I appreciate the City Council's and your consideration of me for the above-referenced 
position. Recently, City Manager Randy Wetmore and City Attorney Cain Smith and I 
discussed the City's vision for this newly created position and court. 

To begin, Randy and Cain envision the court meeting approximately 6 times per year, or 
every other month. While no one yet knows how much volume the court will face, we initially 
estimate allotting 5 hours per court date, with roughly 2 hours allotted for my travel time to and 
from Statesboro and the balance dedicated to court time, 

I will charge the City a flat rate of $850.00, for any of my time on any court day up to 5 
hours, including travel time. For any time I spend over the 5-hour limit, for things such as 
drafting orders of my findings of fact and conclusions of law or appeal responses in contested 
matters, I will then bill the City at the rate of $185 per hour. 

It also seems that Wednesdays are the best day of the week to hold court, so I propose 
holding court on the last Wednesday of the month. If the Council and you agree, the Council 
could vote to begin holding hearings as early as the last Wednesday of this April. 

Thank you k' dly again for your consideration and I look forward to seeing you soon. 

cc: 



 RESOLUTION 2017-15: A RESOLUTION  
 

THAT WHEREAS, Section 6-19 (c) (1) of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Statesboro 
provides that the Mayor and City Council can approve City Manager’s nomination of an Administrative 
Judge to preside over alcohol license violation hearings; 

 
WHEREAS, City Manager nominates Tom Peterson IV to serve on behalf of the City to preside 

over said hearings; 
 
WHEAREAS, Tom Peterson IV has provided a letter of engagement to the City agreeing to serve 

in said capacity and the fees to be paid for said services; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, 

Georgia as follows: 
 
That Tom Peterson IV is hereby appointed as Administrative Judge to be compensated in 

manner consistent with Mr. Peterson’s engagement letter to the City which is attached hereto. 
 

 
 
                                                                                                                         Adopted this ___st day of ____, 2017 
 
                                                                                                                         CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
                                                                                                                       _____________________________ 
                                                                                                                              By: Jan J. Moore, Mayor   
 
 
                                                                                                                       _____________________________ 
                                                                                                                            Attest: Sue Starling, City Clerk               
 



 
 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Travis L. Chance, District 5 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

    
To:   Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

 

From:  Jason Boyles, Director of Public Works and Engineering 

  Brad Deal, P.E., City Engineer 

 

Date:  03/28/2017 

 

RE:  Recommendation of Low Bidder for “City of Statesboro Street Resurfacing 

FY2017” 

 

Policy Issue:  Purchasing 

 

Recommendation:  

Sealed bids based on unit price extensions for the referenced project were received on 

March 21, 2017 as follows: 

Ellis Wood Contracting $569,800.00 

Sikes Brothers $584,435.10 

 

The low bidder, Ellis Wood Contracting, meets the requirements of the bid package 

and submitted an acceptable bid bond.  Staff recommends awarding this contract to 

Ellis Wood Contracting in the amount of $569,800, and requests approval to extend unit 

prices for performing additional city street resurfacing up to the budgeted amount of 

$644,078. 

 

Background:  

The work in this contract includes asphalt resurfacing and repairs of approximately 3 

miles of city streets (see attached list and map), 17,225 square yards of asphalt milling 

and reinstallation of roadway striping. 

 

Budget Impact:   

The low bid submitted by Ellis Wood Contracting is below the budgeted amount of 

$644,078.  The project is to be paid for through a combination of Georgia Department 

of Transportation LMIG funds ($274,078), 2013 SPLOST funds from PWE-ENG-40 Street 

Resurfacing ($300,000) and PWE-ENG-119 Major Street Repairs ($20,000), as well as Solid 

Waste Disposal Fund revenues ($50,000) for the resurfacing of the landfill entrance road. 

Council Person and District: All 

 

Attachments: Location Map and Resurfacing List 

CC: Robert Cheshire, PE, Deputy City Manager 

        Darren Prather, Director of Central Services 






	04-04-2017 Council Agenda
	03-21-2017 Council minutes
	04-2017 Surplus Memo March 2017
	04-2017 MOU Mutual aid
	04-2017 alcohol name change
	04-2017 Alcohol Eagle Creek
	04-2017-15 Council Agenda Memorandum AJ Appt (2
	04-2017-15 Letter to Mayor Moore 3-22-17
	04-2017-15 Resolution- AJ (3)Judge 1
	04-2017 Resurface FY2017 Bid Award Memo
	04-2017 Resurfacing List
	04-2017 Location Map (2)

